2001

Luther H. Thomas v. Glen Peterson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action to determine the rights of the appellant Glen Peterson and Joes Valley, Inc., to the possession of, or any interest in, the property that has formerly been associated with Joes Valley, Inc., and to quiet title to such property.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

A judgment was entered against the defendants, Joes Valley, Inc., and Glen Peterson, which stated that the plaintiff, Luther H. Thomas was the owner and entitled to possession of property known as Joes Valley Marina including the special use

permit of the United States Department of Agriculture dated September 18, 1967, and that the defendants, Joes Valley, Inc., Glen Peterson, and Omega Silver Corporation and all who claimed title under any of them to any such property had no right, title, interest, claim nor estate whatever in or upon such property, and all defendants or persons claiming through them were enjoined and debarred from claiming any interest in such property. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial was denied on January 31, 1975.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant Peterson seeks an order dismissing the plaintiff's Complaint and quieting title to property referred to, or formerly associated with Joes Valley Marina and the special use permit of the United States Department of Agriculture, in defendant Joes Valley Marina, Inc. Defendant Peterson further seeks an order establishing the validity of his lease to said property under a lease between defendant Peterson and defendant Joes Valley, Inc.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of the case are partially in dispute. The plaintiff formerly owned all of the assets of Joes Valley Marina and the special use permit of the United States Department of Agriculture as an individual (R. 6). The plaintiff then formed a corporation known by the name of Joes Valley Marine, Inc., which possessed the former assets of Joes Valley Marina and the special use permit (R. 11-17). New stockholders were taken into Joes Valley Marina, Inc., hereinafter referred to as Marina, Inc., and the capitalization of Marina, Inc., was increased.

The articles of incorporation of Marina, Inc., were then revised which changed the name of Joes Valley Marina, Inc., to Joes Valley, Inc., hereinafter Joes Valley, Inc., will be referred to as Valley, Inc., (R. 18-20).

The defendant Joes Valley, Inc., took possession of the referred to property and operated it until the Spring of 1973 at which time Valley, Inc., purported to sell all of its assets to the defendant Omega Silver Corporation (R. 20-27). The sale to Omega Silver Corporation has since disclaimed any interest in the agreement or the property of Valley, Inc., (R. 3).

On or about July 4, 1973, the defendant Valley, Inc., made and executed a written lease with the option to buy the property formerly known as Joes Valley Marina and which included the special use permit, in favor of the defendant Glen Peterson. It should be noted that defendant Glen Peterson had previously negotiated with Valley, Inc., on behalf of Omega Silver Corporation, and the lease between Valley, Inc., and defendant Glen Peterson was entered into after Omega Silver Corporation lost interest in the property acquisition (R. 147).

The dispute in the facts arises between the plaintiff and defendant Glen Peterson because the plaintiff contends that the property in Marina, Inc., was transferred by a sales agreement (Ex. 2) dated April 19, 1972, to Valley, Inc., (R. 10). The defendant contends that said property was transferred from Marina, Inc., to Valley, Inc., by the revised articles of incorporation and not by the sales agreement (Ex. 2).

This sales agreement (Ex. 2) between the plaintiff and defendant Joes Valley, Inc., was in default, and therefore, the plaintiff sought to reclaim the property in accordance with said sales agreement (Ex. 2). Therefore, the plaintiff contends that the defendant Glen Peterson has no leasehold estate since Valley, Inc.,

does not have any property to lease. The defendant Glen Peterson, on the other hand, claims that the sales agreement (Ex. 2) is inoperative as is set forth in defendant Glen Peterson's Argument on appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

PLAINTIFF'S SALES CONTRACT IS VOID AND OF NO EFFECT BECAUSE THE CONTRACT WAS ENTERED INTO WITHOUT THE AUTHORITY OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF JOES VALLEY, INC.

According to the Business Corporation Act, § 16-10-33, Utah Code Annotated (1953), "The business affairs of a corporation shall be managed by the board of directors." And according to § 16-10-38, Utah Code Annotated (1953):

A majority of the number of directors fixed by the bylaws, . . . shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business unless a greater number is required by the articles of incorporation or the bylaws. The act of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the board of directors, unless the act of a greater number is required by the articles of incorporation or the bylaws.

And the defense of Ultra Vires, § 16-10-6 (a), Utah Code Annotated (1953) gives the authority to set aside unauthorized acts and states that:

If the unauthorized acts or transfer sought to be enjoined are being, or are to be performed or made pursuant to any contract to which the corporation is a party, the court may, if all of the parties to the contract are parties to the

proceeding and if it deems the same to be equitable, set aside and enjoin the performance of such contract . . .

The plaintiff stated that he was interested in selling the Joes Valley Marina, but that one J.R. Taylor persuaded him to turn the property into a corporation (R.7). The corporation was called Joes Valley Marina, Inc., hereinafter referred to as Marina, Inc., (R.9). It then appears that it is the plaintiff's contention that the property of Marina, Inc., was to be transferred to Joes Valley, Inc., hereinafter Valley, Inc., by a sales agreement (Ex.2). The plaintiff stated that the contract was purportedly executed at a board of director's meeting (R.10). The sales agreement shows Luther H. Thomas as seller and Joes Valley, Inc., by Julian R. Taylor as purchaser, but does not indicate in what capacity Mr. Taylor is serving (R.13).

There is no question that Mr. Taylor and Mr. Thomas signed the contract, but rather the question revolves around whether Mr. Taylor, under authority from the board of directors, executed the contract on behalf of Joes Valley, Inc.

It has long been recognized in the State of Utah that an officer or director of a corporation may only act with the express

or implied authority conveyed upon him or her by the board of directors. Of course, day to day activities may be carried on by the officers of the corporation, but with the purchase or sale of what appears to be the entire assets of Marina, Inc., and Valley, Inc., respectively, the board of directors must act directly.

Additionally, it should be remembered that while the plaintiff was a stockholder, the capitalization was increased and new stockholders has been taken into Marina, Inc., at the time of the purported sales transaction (Ex. 2).

With regard to the alleged sales transfer (Ex. 2) from Marina, Inc., it should be pointed out that § 16-10-74, Utah Code Annotated, (1953) states that:

A sale . . . or other disposition of all, or substantially all, the property and assets, with or without the good will, of a corporation, if not made in the usual and regular course of its business, may be made . . . in the following manner: (a) The board of directors shall adopt a resolution recommending such sale, . . . and directing the submission thereof to a vote at a meeting of shareholders . . . "

The rest of section 16-10-74 then goes on to specify what the procedure should be with regard to the shareholders meeting. Since it appears that the shareholders are the same persons as the officers

and directors, the real question comes down to whether or not a resolution was passed by the directors, and whether in fact any action, either orally or written, or formally or informally was ever taken by such board of directors. This is important with not only the sales of all of the assets of Marina, Inc., but also with regard to Valley, Inc., who cannot be bound to any such contract unless it has been taken pursuant to the authority vested in the board of directors.

It was stated in Lochwitz v. Pine Tree Min. & Mill Co., 37 U. 349, 108 P. 1128 (1910) that:

The board of directors to whom the authority to bind the corporation is committed is not the individual directors scattered here and there, whose assent to a given act may be collected by a diligent canvasser, but it is the board sitting and consulting together in a body. Individual directors, or any number of them less than a quorum, have no authority as directors to bind the corporation. And this is equally the rule, although the director who assumes to do so may own a majority of the shares. . . under our statute the powers of the corporation must be exercised by a quorum of the board of directors when assembled as a body. The president, therefore, could not make a binding contract . . . unless authorized to do so by such a quorum.

The Court in Lochwitz goes on to point out that if such were not the rule, contracts could easily be entered into to the ruin of the corporation and the stockholders.

It should be pointed out that our situation is not the same as presented in Westinghouse Credit Corp. v. Hydrosswift Corp.

 U. 2d , 528 P.2d 156 (1974) where the Court stated that:

It is not to be doubted that entering into such a contract by a corporation not only usually is, but should be done, by authorization of its board of directors. . . .this is subject to exceptions according to the requirements of justice and equity in individual cases. There is also a well recognized rule that a corporation may not represent to another party that it has executed a valid contract, induce the other to perform, accept the benefits, and then when it suits its interest, renege. . .

Our situation certainly does not fall into this category. Valley, Inc., certainly has not induced the plaintiff into any contact. The plaintiff was already into the business of which he wished to escape and his attempting to contract with Valley, Inc., was the means by which the plaintiff attempted to get out of such business. Therefore, the general rule must be followed which requires the board of directors to authorize such a sales contract.

It is further emphasized that action must be taken by the board of directors with regard to such a matter where the Court in Foster v. Blake Heights Corporation, U. 2d , 530 P.2d 815 (1974) noted that [N]o officer or agent of a corporation has authority to make a contract to sell its real estate without [action thereon by

the board of directors]." Again similar statements are made by the Court in Jackson v. Bonneville Irr. Dist., 66 U. 404, 243 P. 107 (1926).

The District Judge states in his Memorandum Decision in the present action that "the evidence indicates that the books and records of the corporation were so carelessly and imperfectly kept as not to show the acts of the corporation, and it has been held that in such event such acts and resolutions may be proved by parol, in the absence of a statute to the contrary. (See 29 Am. Jur. 2d p. 536)." The defendant has no disagreement with this statement and in fact quotes Copper King Mining Co., v. Hanson, 52 U. 605, 176 P. 623 (1918) wherein the Court states that, "Any act of the directors may be proven by oral testimony, when it is shown that no record was made of such action, or when it is shown that if such record was made it has been lost."

However, it should be noted that minutes and board resolutions were made and recorded for other actions taken by the board of directors. Such minutes and resolutions included a resolution recording the change in corporate name and a resolution was recorded in the board meeting recording the defendant Peterson's lease. In fact, it appears that the only resolution that was not recorded was the resolution with regard to the plaintiff's sales contract (Ex. 2).

The plaintiff does not claim that any records were lost, but it certainly must appear axiomatic, that the plaintiff has the burden of showing that the directors took such action or made any such resolution.

Therefore, let us look at the record to determine if the plaintiff ever made such a showing. The plaintiff stated that he could not remember all the details that went on at the meeting at which the corporate action was to have been taken with regard to the sales contract (R. 11), and that he read the contract while the meeting was being carried on. The plaintiff stated that he knew of no minutes of any meeting which would pertain to the sales contract (R. 13). The plaintiff stated that he did not know if the sales contract (Ex. 2) showed any designation of any officer of the Valley, Inc., (R. 13), and said contract does not infact contain any such notation (Ex. 2). It should also be noted that while § 16-10-4, Utah Code Annotated (1953) authorized a corporation to have a seal, that no such seal was placed on the sales contract (Ex. 2). Also, it does not appear that the secretary of the corporation signed the document (Ex. 2).

The Court in fact sustained the defendant's objection that the plaintiff had not sufficiently laid a foundation to introduce the sales

contract at that time (R. 14). A similar objection was sustained as to the bylaws of the corporation, Valley, Inc., and the Court suggested that the secretary of the corporation, Mr. Carnavali, be questioned to see if these documents could be introduced by him (R. 17).

When Mr. Carnavali was questioned with regard to the sales agreement (Ex. 2), he stated that he had a general understanding of the sales agreement (R. 75), but that he had never seen the agreement nor did he have a copy of it (R. 97). Again, the Court did not let the sales agreement be introduced into evidence (R. 77-79).

Finally the lower court stated with reference to the admissibility of the sales contract (Ex. 2), "I think I am going to admit the agreement as illustrative of his testimony only without any question about the legality of it. . . . But that does not establish now the validity of the agreement. That remains open." (R. 156). In fact, the plaintiff never at any time proved that the sales agreement (Ex. 2) was ever passed upon by a majority of the board of directors, and in fact, the trial court never at any time admitted the sales contract into evidence for any purpose other than to be

illustrative of the plaintiff's testimony. Therefore, there was never shown to be any action by the board of directors to authorize the sales contract.

POINT II.

THE SALES CONTRACT WAS VOIDABLE AT THE OPTION OF THE CORPORATION BECAUSE THE PLAINTIFF AS THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD, A DIRECTOR, AND GENERAL MANAGER OF JOES VALLEY MARINA, INC., AND JOES VALLEY, INC., BREACHED HIS FIDUCIARY DUTY IN SUCH CONTRACT EXECUTION WITH THE CORPORATIONS.

The Court stated in Branch v. Western Factors, 28 U. 2d 361, 502 P.2d 570 (1972) that "A director occupies a fiduciary relationship to his corporation, and his personal dealings with the corporation may be avoided unless good faith and fairness are shown." In Sweeney v. Happy Valley, 18 U.2d 113, 417 P.2d 126 (1966) the Court said, " . . . when a fiduciary deals for his own interest with the beneficiary, in case any question arises, such dealings should be scrutinized with care, and the burden is upon him to show good faith in the transaction." Similar language is used in Hansen v. Holding Co., 117 U. 530, 218 P.2d 274 (1950), where the Court stated that " . . . courts of equity will carefully scrutinize the dealings of the mangement and set aside such transactions on

slight grounds."

Good faith and fairness obviously require a full and complete disclosure to an independent and disinterested board of directors. It follows that a full and complete disclosure would require the plaintiff to state such items as the contract price, the plaintiff's profit in the matter, possible alternatives open to the corporation, and the value of the property. Yet in the present situation, not only were these things not done, but in fact, there was never any discussion as to the matter and it appears that the only person that has been shown to be privy to the negotiation was Mr. J.R. Taylor, the apparent president of Marina, Inc., and later Valley, Inc.

As is stated in 19 Am. Jur.2d § 1281:

Personal dealings with the corporation or transactions with the corporation in which the director has some personal interest may be avoided unless good faith and fairness are shown. While occupying such a fiduciary relation, the officers and directors of a corporation are precluded from receiving any personal advantage without the fullest disclosure, and assent of, all concerned.

Again, it does not appear that the requirements stated in 19 Am. Jur.2d § 1281 have even attempted to be complied with since not only was there not full disclosure, but there was in fact, no disclosure whatsoever.

The Court noted in Hogan & Hall & Higgins, Inc., v. Hall, 18 U. 2d 3, 414 P 2d 89 (1966) that it was " . . . cognizant of the fact that there are thousands of directors who are unaware of the responsibilities of their positions, and do not realize that their personal interests are subordinated to that of their corporation in case of conflict." It cannot seriously be contended that the plaintiff was concerned about the interest of the corporation.

The plaintiff in fact stated that he wanted to get out of the business for health reasons (R. 6), and it certainly does not appear that the plaintiff realized that his interests were subordinated to that of his corporation.

There are many cases that assert what the duty of a fiduciary is to his corporation, Cox v. Berry, 19 U 2d 352, 431 P.2d 575 (1967): Rocket Min. Corp. v. Gill, 25 U. 2d 434, 483 P. 2d 897 (1971): Barker v. Glenwood, 82 U. 100, 21 P. 2d 889 (1933), but suffice it to say as quoted from Chapman v. Troy Laundry Co., 87 U. 15, 47 P. 2d 1054 (1935), if directors " . . . sell or dispose of corporate property with a view to gain personal advantage rather than for the purpose of enhancing the interests of the corporation,

they are guilty of bad faith."

Therefore, since the plaintiff did not deal with the corporation in good faith and fairness, the contract is voidable at the option of the corporation. And since the corporation has sought to set the contract aside, the Court should allow such action on the corporation's behalf.

POINT I I I.

THE PROPERTY REFERRED TO IN THE PLAINTIFF'S SALES CONTRACT WAS ALREADY THE PROPERTY OF JOES VALLEY, INC., AND AS SUCH, THE PLAINTIFF HAD NOTHING TO CONVEY BY CONTRACT.

The trial court stated in its Memorandum Opinion that the defendant Peterson can only assert his claim of right by reason of the plaintiff's sales contract (Ex. 2) and not otherwise, and therefore, if the plaintiff sales contract is invalid, the defendant Peterson will have no rights thereunder. However, the defendant Peterson does not claim to assert his leasehold estate through the sales contract (Ex. 2), but rather states that the property sought to be conveyed by the plaintiff to Valley, Inc., was already the property of Valley, Inc.

Therefore, even if the sales contract (Ex. 2) is otherwise valid, the plaintiff had nothing to convey to Valley, Inc., since said property

was already in Valley, Inc. And if the sales contract (Ex. 2) is found to be invalid, the invalidity of said contract doesn't affect the lessee's rights because the lessee does not claim to take property by reason of the sales contract, but rather the lessee's rights are independent of the sales contract since the property was already transferred to Valley, Inc.

It is axiomatic that a person cannot convey property which he does not own or which has otherwise been put beyond his personal control. The trial court stated in its Memorandum of Opinion that the plaintiff was 100% stockholder in Joes Valley Marina, Inc., (R. 48) i.e., Marina, Inc., and there does not appear to be any contention by the plaintiff to the contrary. However, it appears to be the plaintiff's position that the property transferred by Marina, Inc. to Valley, Inc., was by contract. The defendant Peterson's position is that the property was transferred by a revision to the articles of incorporation.

§ 16-10-61 Utah Code Annotated (1953) gives a corporation the power to change its name by amending its articles of incorporation. If such procedure is carried out, obviously the only change in the structure would be the name or any other matter referred to in the restated articles of incorporation.

The tax returns for the years of 1971 and 1972 of Joes Valley Marina, Inc., showed depreciation of the assets which had been the property of Joes Valley Marina before incorporation, and as such this supports the position that the assets had been treated by the plaintiff as though they were the property of Marina, Inc. (R. 54). The plaintiff testified that all the property under Marina, Inc., was his entirely (R. 47).

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