2001

Luther H. Thomas v. Glen Peterson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Plaintiff contends first that the Forest Service Use Permit is an interest in real property as set forth in UCA 70A-9-104 which provides:

"This Chapter does not apply:

(a--i) - not applicable

(j) except to the extent that provision is made for fixtures in section 70A-9-313, to the creation or transfer of an interest in or lien on real estate including a lease or rents thereunder;--"

Plaintiff points out that the instrument through which Defendant Peterson claims, is styled a "Lease" and describes a parcel of land in the North half of Section 6, Township 18 South, Range 6 East, (Ex. 9) etc. Plaintiff admittedly cannot find a case characterizing the application of that Section of UCC to a "use permit" and is therefore confined to a naked argument that the essential nature of

a "use permit" is an interest in real property that strongly resembles a lease of such real property. The permit itself (Ex. 9) provides:

"Permission is hereby granted -- to use subject to the following conditions set out below, the following conditions set out below, the following described lands and improvements for the period of 16 years,

The legal description is here set out. In the interest of space, it is not repeated herein, containing 10.4 acres"

It follows that the transaction is specifically excluded from the Uniform Commercial Code.

If it is included and Defendant-Petitioner is to avoid Plaintiff's security interest it must be pursuant to the provisions of UCA 70A-9-301 which provides:

"(1) Except as otherwise provided in Subsection (2) an unperfected security interest is subordinate to the rights of,

(a) - not applicable
(b) - not applicable
(c) - in the case of Goods instruments, documents, and chattel papers, a person who is not a secured party and who is a transferee in bulk or other buyer not in ordinary course of business, to the extent that he gives value and receives delivery of the collateral without knowledge of the security interest and before it is perfected; --- "

That section provides three criteria for priority.

The persons seeking such priority must,

(a) Receive delivery of the collateral.

In the instant case, Peterson acknowledged that he never obtained such possession.

(b) Receive such delivery without knowledge of the security interest. In that connection, Plaintiff's evidence indicates that the Plaintiff told Defendant Peterson about his sales contract and gave him a copy (T 21 & 22) Mrs. Thomas testified that she complained to him that they had an agreement; that they needed money and that the agreement had not been performed (T 157 - 159) Moreover, much of Defendant Peterson's activity -- his dealings with the Thomases and particularly his dealings with the Falsones, was obviously done to satisfy the requirements of that agreement (T 120-130).

Perhaps the most damning evidence of Defendant Peterson's knowledge is disclosed by the following questions asked him at trial and his answers thereto, at pages 130 and 131 of the transcript.

"Q. All right, then do you recall my telling you at that time that we could not enter into an agreement with you providing for payment out of the operation of the marina

because if you didn't take care of the obligation to the Thomas' they would take the marina away from both of us?

A. That's right, you did tell me that.

Q. And you told me that the obligation to the Thomas' had been paid, the Thomas' would --

A. That arrangements had been made.

Q. And I told you that the Thomas' and their attorney did not agree with that did I not?

A. You did. I would assume.

Q. I further told you that there was a twenty-two thousand dollar payment due September 1st that had to be paid or that, or the Thomas' would take the property back?

A. And I told you to show me documentation.

Q. Do you recall asking me to show you documentation?

A. I do absolutely.

Q. What did I say?

A. What?

Q. What do you claim I said?

A. You didn't show me any documentation.

Q. But I did tell you that Thomas' had a title

retaining contract?

A. Yes you did. You told me they had money coming, you didn't tell me, I don't recall title retaining contract. You may have said it, but I don't recall that in particular.

Q. But I did tell you that if the obligation to the Thomas' due in just a couple of months to pay twenty-two thousand wasn't paid that the Thomas' would be in position to take the marina away from both you and us?

A. That's right you did tell me that."

The Court found in its memorandum Decision, and in its Findings of Fact, that the Defendant Peterson had full knowledge of said sales agreement and that it was in default when he attempted to acquire an interest in the Marina property (R 105, para. 5 and R 100, beg. at top of page). Plaintiff urges that its findings were correct and required by the evidence.

Even if Defendant's knowledge was imperfect and Plaintiff contends the contrary, prior cases say that he had such notice as to excite his attention or put him on guard, he should be deemed conversant of such facts as a reasonable inquiry would lead him to. This Court in O'Reilly vs. McLean, 84 U. 551, 37 P. 2d 70 noted.

"Whatever is notice enough to excite attention and put the party on his guard and call for inquiry is notice of everything which inquiry might have led. When such a person has sufficient information to lead him to a fact, he shall be deemed conversant of it."

The Court in that case involving water rights concluded that the subsequent purchaser had a duty to inquire as to whether the transferee of a portion of the land to which they applied had acquired the water rights in question and charged said purchaser with notice of that party's right, in spite of the dissenting Judge's conclusion, that the record was clear that he had no actual notice.

The Court in Universal CIT Corporation vs. Courtesy Motors, 8 U. 2nd 275, 333 P. 2d 628, quoted the same language concluding that the purchaser of an automobile had a duty to inquire as to the contents of a missing portion of the Bill of Sale, when its torn condition put him on notice thereof. In Meager vs. Dean, 27 U. 173, 91 P. 2d 454, this Court held that notice of the possession of the tenant of real property was notice of possession of the landlord and imposed a duty to inquire as to the landlord's interest.

In the O'Reilly vs. McLean case, the Court held the purchaser of real property had a duty of inquiry as to the status of a mortgage which he knew existed even though it was not disclosed by the record, even though his landlord had mislead him as to its validity.

(c) The third criteria is that he gets priority only to the extent that he gives value. T 136 indicates the following question asked of the Defendant Peterson and the following answer given.

"Q But you have not paid anything to Joe's Valley, Inc. as a consideration for the lease that you claim?

A Well, not on that. No, I guess I haven't."

In summary, Plaintiff contends that the "use permit" is an interest in real estate within the meaning of UCA 70A-9-104 (j) and is therefore excluded from the provisions of UCC; That in any event the defendant Peterson is not a person who can take priority pursuant to UCA 70A-9-301 (c) because he did not take possession; did not get possession without knowledge and was in any event entitled to priority

only to the extend he gave consideration and he gave no consideration.

POINT II

THE DEFENDANT PETERSON NEVER ACQUIRED AN INTEREST IN THE MARINA PROPERTY BECAUSE THE LEASE - OPTION AGREEMENT THROUGH WHICH HE CLAIMS IS BY ITS OWN TERMS SUBJECT TO THE WRITTEN APPROVAL OF THE FOREST SERVICE WHICH WAS NEVER OBTAINED.

The lease-option agreement provides (Ex. 10) in paragraph 8,

"8. It is mutually understood and agreed that this lease and the agreements and provisions contained herein are entered into subject to the written approval of the United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service."

That approval was never obtained. Defendant Appellant Peterson admits at page 27 of his brief that it was not obtained, but claims that it was not obtained by reason of the action of Plaintiff, the Defendant Joe's Valley, Inc. or unspecified third parties -- but he points

to no evidence that such approval was frustrated by anyone, nor does he explain why his failure to obtain such approval, it caused by Plaintiff or especially if caused by unspecified third parties, should avoid that term of his lease.

Plaintiff urges that even if Defendant Peterson was such a purchaser for value that his claim was entitled to priority over the title retaining forfeiture claim of Plaintiff, his failure to obtain possession or title by the terms of his own contract, while the right or power to transfer title or possession of the party with whom he contracted (Joe's Valley, Inc.) was terminated, frustrates his ability to obtain title of possession from the said Joe's Valley, Inc. now or at some future time. The party with whom he contracted no longer has the means of fulfilling the executory contract. If the Defendant Peterson has a remedy it is with the Defendant Joe's Valley, Inc., the party with whom he contracted.

POINT III

THE SALES CONTRACT WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED BY THE TRIAL COURT -- DEFENDANT PETERSON HAS NO STANDING TO OBJECT, SINCE THE DEFENDANT JOE'S VALLEY, INC. WITH WHOM THE CONTRACT WAS MADE, ADMITTED IT.

Plaintiff's principle action was against the Defendant Joe's Valley, Inc., to declare the contract with that Defendant forfeited and terminated. (see Prayer of Plaintiff's Complaint /R 6 & 7/). Paragraph 2 of Plaintiff's Complaint alleged the signing and execution of the sales contract in question on the 19th day of April, 1972 (R 12). Copy of the sales contract was annexed to the Complaint, Exhibit "A" (R 1 - 5). Joe's Valley, Inc. admitted the allegations of paragraph 2 of Plaintiff's Company (R 86).

29 Am Jur 740, Evidence, Section 687, states the general rule.

"It is one of the elementary rules of pleading that a party is not required to prove those allegations admitted by his adversary to be true."

See also annotations at 14 A.L.R. 87, Supplemented at 90 A.L.R. 1411 (an examination of the Blue Book Supplement by this writer did not locate a Utah case.)

In the instant case, Plaintiff contends that in as much as the contract was between Plaintiff and the Defendant Joe's Valley, Inc., it was necessary to construe it only as between those parties, and the Defendant Peterson was not competent to object to the introduction of it since the parties to the contract each relied on it and where one party claims by it in his complaint and the other admitted it in his answer. When the Court determined that the interest in the Marina property of the Defendant Joe's Valley, Inc. should be forfeited and terminated pursuant to the terms of the contract between those contracting parties, it had then only to further determine, whether other parties claiming through Joe's Valley, Inc. had for some reason obtained an interest in the property with a priority superior to that of Plaintiff's, and absent that, to conclude that said parties did not have an interest in the property, their remedy if any, being upon their contract with Defendant Joe's Valley, Inc. with whom they dealt. But the propriety of admitting said contract does not depend on the foregoing. Article IV, Section 7 of the By-Laws (Ex. 4) of the Defendant Joe's

Valley, Inc. which had been admitted in evidence, provides for the duties of the President, as follows:

"He shall sign and make all contracts and agreements in the name of the corporation, and see that they are properly carried out."

The provision relating to the duties of the Board of Directors, Article III, Section 9, say generally the directors shall have the control and general management of the affairs and business of the corporation; they shall fix compensation of the officers and sell shares of stock of the corporation. They did not provide that they shall authorize the execution of contracts entered into by the corporation directly or inferentially. Plaintiff contends the authority to make a contract by the President and in the absence of a delegation of authority to the Board of Directors to approve such contracts, renders the contract signed by the President binding against the corporation and consequently proof that it was signed by the President for the corporation proves that it was a contract of the corporation. It was competent for the By-Laws to provide that the President should make the contracts of the corporation.

In that regard UCA 16-10-25 provides in part:

"The By-Laws may contain any provision for the regulation and management of the affairs of the corporation not inconsistent with law or Articles of Incorporation."

It will be helpful to here review the evidence before the Court when it admitted the sales contract, (Ex. 2). Plaintiff testified the contract was signed by the President, Julian Taylor, at a meeting of the Board of Directors. He named seven of the Directors that were present at the meeting (T 10 & 11). (Article III, Section A of the By-Laws provides that a majority of the twelve Directors shall constitute a quorum) He further testified that he missed some of what went on in the meeting, as he was examining the contract (T 11). He testified that he had never transferred his interest in the property known as Joe's Valley Marina except by that contract (T 65 & 66) and a pre-corporation agreement by and between the same parties containing the same provisions as Ex. 2 (T 8), that was preliminary to and preceded said Ex. 2. There was abundant testimony that the

Defendant Joe's Valley, Inc. had taken possession and control of the Marina and there was no explanation of any authorization for their doing so, except the subject sales agreement.

Plaintiff could not testify as to the specific vote of the Board of Directors regarding the approval of the contract and he did not produce a minute record of the Board of Directors approving such authorization. In that regard the Secretary-Treasurer of the Corporation who had been subpoenaed by Plaintiff testified that he was aware of the sales agreement in question but did not have any of the minute records and he did not know what happened to them (T 75). The testimony of said Secretary - Treasurer was vague and Plaintiff contends and the Court held in its Memorandum Decision (para 2, R 101) that his testimony taken as a whole indicated that the books and records of the corporation were carelessly and imperfectly kept.

On that state of evidence of the Court admitted the sales agreement, Plaintiff's Exhibit 2 in evidence and in his Memorandum Decision and in his Findings of Fact held that it was the agreement of the parties.

In the 1961 case of Peterson vs. Holmgren Land & Livestock Company, 12 U 2nd 125, 363 P. 2d 786, this Court quoted with approval a rule stated in Am Jur as follows:

"If a corporate officer assumes or contracts on behalf of the corporation, at least one to whom authority to make such a contract may be given, a person dealing with him in good faith is not affected by the fact that the proper steps to clothe him with such authority were not taken."

It was contended as here, that there was no evidence of authorization by the Directors of the corporation for the execution of the contract. The Court pointed out that the Minutes were for the most part written in a brief and indefinite manner. Plaintiff urges that the ostensible authority relied on by the Court in Peterson case, is substantially less adequate than that shown in the instant case, where the By-Laws of which Plaintiff, the party entering into the contract, was aware, specifically stated that the President had authority to make contracts for the corporation.

Judge Sheya in his Memorandum Decision, found that the books and records of the corporation were so carelessly and imperfectly kept as to not show the acts of the corporation and cited 29 Am Jur 2nd 536 as authority for the proposition

that in such event such acts can be proved by parol, in the absence of statute to the contrary. Plaintiff believes that he cannot gainsay the Court's statement and merely endorses it.

The corporation Joe's Valley, Inc. accepted and retained the benefits of the sales contract in question.

(This action and appeal arises because of an alleged lease and sale of the property the corporation received from the Plaintiff through said sales contract.) 7 Fletcher

Encyclopedia corporations Section 3011 (1964 Revised)

Volume 7, Page 79, recites the rule as follows:

"In like manner a corporation which has received the consideration of a contract cannot defend against an action on the contract on the ground that the provisions of the Statute, Charter or By-Laws prescribing the form of the contract or the mode of executing it were not complied with by the officer acting for the corporation in the execution of the contract. In other words, any informality in executing a contract is waived, and cannot be set up as a defense where the corporation has accepted and obtained the benefits of the contract."

Cases from several different jurisdictions, not including Utah were cited in support of said rule.

In summary, Plaintiff contends:

A. The agreement was properly admitted because Defendant Joe's Valley, Inc. against whom it was being construed, admitted it and the Defendant Peterson was not competent to object to it.

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